George Gilbert Pond and the Preservation of Priestley House

Kristen A. Yarmey, University of Scranton
Anthony Cianchetta

Available at: https://works.bepress.com/kristenyt/37/
A Force in Chemical Education

George Gilbert Pond was one of the Pennsylvania State University's longest-serving professors of chemistry. A native of Holliston, Massachusetts, he earned a bachelor's degree at Andover College before traveling abroad to study chemistry and microbiology at the renowned University of Göttingen in Germany.

In 1881, Penn State President George W. Atwater hired Pond to lead the College's Department of Chemistry. Pond remained at Penn State for the next thirty-one decades, becoming Dean of the School of Natural Sciences in 1906 and serving as Acting President in 1910 when Edwin Albert Spalding took ill. Under Pond's leadership, the faculty and student enrollment in Penn State's chemistry department increased tenfold. By the 1920s, Penn State was one of the country's largest producers of graduate chemists, and George Gilbert Pond was the center of a wide network of loyal chemical chemists, whom he affectionately called "his boys."

Though most famous for his teaching, Pond was also a talented chemist who specialized in natural chemistry and frequently assisted local police investigators with forensic analyses. He died unexpectedly on May 29, 1920, at the age of 60.

A Fitting Memorial

Early in his Penn State career, George Gilbert Pond visited Priestley House. He was struck with its historical significance as the home of Joseph Priestley as well as the site of the historic "Comenian Commercial of Chemistry," an American chemistry institute celebrating the anniversaries of Priestley's discovery of oxygen.

As the owner of a house that had fallen into disrepair and was being used as a boarding house, frowned upon by the local community, Pond decided that Priestley House, and especially its laboratory, should be preserved as a shrine and landmark in chemical history.

In 1917, in the height of its Golden Jubilee celebration in Philadelphia, the American Chemical Society chartered a train to Priestley House. There, the chemists paid tribute to Joseph Priestley and commemorated the 175th Commercial of Chemistry. As part of the ceremony, the famous chemical engineer and Penn State alumnus William H. Mulliken dedicated the newly completed "Priestley Museum" to his former teacher and mentor, George Gilbert Pond.

The Dream Realized

Pond's concern for Priestley House gained new urgency in 1920 when he heard reports that a planned railroad line would cut directly through the Priestley property. He wrote letters after letters to the railroad's "amiable"’’fraction leaders. Finances were tight after the War, but Pond's former students donated what they could.

On October 16, 1929, before Pond could complete his fundraising campaign, he received notice that the House would be vacated "within forty days". William Holley Tim of Penn State's Class of 1891 came to the rescue and donated a substantial sum towards the purchase of the property. Pond made a successful bid at the public sale, and by the end of November 1929, he held the deed to Priestley House.

The Priestley House would now be a wreck, and possibly have entirely disappeared, had it not been for the energetic and timely action of Dr. George Gilbert Pond.

A Continuing Legacy

At the end of his life, Pond was recognized in the notes of Joseph Priestley's House. As his part in the anniversaries of the "Commercial of Chemistry" at Priestley House as part of the American Chemical Society's Fifty-First Annual Convention on Chemical Education. In those years, the Alumni and Friends of Penn State Chemistry raised over $9,000 for the renovation of the Priory House.

On November 7, 1920, the Friends of Joseph Priestley House held a dedication ceremony for the renovated Priory House. Led by Dr. Ray Olmsted, Professor Emeritus of chemistry, Penn State chemists gathered at Priestley House for the event, paying tribute once more to the legendary professor George Gilbert Pond.